
You Are Why We Are Here 
 

 

FRANKLIN COUNTY 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
WORK SESSION MINUTES 
October 29, 2019 
6:00 P.M. 
 
BOC:  Commission Chairman Thomas Bridges  
  District 1 Commissioner Robert Franklin 
  District 2 Commissioner Dr. Jason Macomson 

District 3 Commissioner Ryan Swails 
District 4 Commissioner Eddie Wester 

 
Media:   Shane Scoggins, Franklin County Citizen Leader 
  MJ Kneiser, WLHR 
 
Staff:   County Manager Beth Thomas 
  County Clerk Elaine Evans 
 
Item 1: Call meeting to order – Chairman Bridges called the October work session 
to order and thanked everyone for attending. 
 
Item 2: Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance – Commissioner Franklin led the 
invocation and pledge of allegiance to the American flag. 
 

Commissioner Swails made a motion to the amend the agenda to include a request of 
counsel from the Ethics Board to be placed as Item J and Announcements moved to Item K. 
Chairman Bridges asked for a second. Commissioner Macomson seconded the motion. 
There was no discussion. The motion passed by five (5) YES votes to zero (0) NO votes. The 
YES votes were Chairman Bridges, Commissioner Swails, Commissioner Macomson, 
Commissioner Franklin and Commissioner Wester. 
 
Item 3: Items for discussion 
 
A. Public Comment 

Chairman Bridges asked if anyone would like to speak in public comment. He said to 
come forward and state your name. 

 
Andrea Robinson stated she lives less than a half mile from the GRP plant. Her 

concern is the loss of property value. The plant is extremely loud at times and the truck 
traffic will be loud too. She asked the Commission Board to help with this. 

 
Roger Wilson said he lives right across the street from GRP. He toured the plant last 

Friday and during this tour the plant manager David Groves told him that the trucks will be 
loading and unloading 24 hours a day, seven days a week. Mr. Wilson stated GRP is 
constantly changing the rule book on their operations schedule. 



You Are Why We Are Here 
 

 

Donnie Gettys questioned if the Commissioners know when the start-up for the plant 
will be completed. The neighbors would like to know the plan. 

 
Morris Sweatman said he lives about a quarter of a mile from the plant. He is 

concerned about the smoke, the racket and the water pollution. The smoke from the plant is 
going into the chicken houses when the fans are running. Mr. Sweatman stated when the 
plant is running the racket is causing the chickens to huddle together and that is a big 
concern. He said another big concern is the stuff running into Indian Creek as his home and 
chicken houses are served by wells. Another concern is the property values going down. 

 
Wayne Young said he attended the first meeting regarding the power plant. At this 

meeting it was stated there would not be any truck traffic except for specified hours, there 
would not be noise and it would not be in a residential area. Mr. Young said someone 
dropped the ball trying to look out for the County to have an extra dollar and they are 
getting by with pure murder. 

 
Ken Dickens stated he lives about a half mile or less from the plant. He is in agreement 

with the issues mentioned by everyone. Mr. Dickens said the thing he is most concerned 
about is the chips that are covering the ground at GRP and he is afraid this will affect the 
ground water. He also is concerned because the neighbors are not able to get a straight 
answer from anyone. 

 
Arlen Hart said he is concerned about the noise, smoke and the traffic. He stated the 

extra truck traffic may cause accidents when people try to pull out of their driveways. The 
emissions from the burning is a major health concern. 

 
Garvis McElroy said he lives about six tenths of a mile from the power plant. His main 

concern is some of the Commissioners visited the plant and no information has been shared 
since this visit. Mr. McElroy said he would like to know what transpired during the GRP 
visit. GRP is using a jack-break to slow the trucks that are coming into the site. Mr. McElroy 
stated it is the responsibility of the Commission Board to put up signs and work on getting 
the trucks to slow down.  

 
Mr. McElroy read the mission statement for the Board of Commissioners taken from the 

County's website and gave each Commissioner a copy. The mission statement for the 
Commissioners includes "to provide the highest quality of services in a fiscal responsible 
manner to promote the health, safety and general welfare of Franklin County citizens." Mr. 
McElroy stated that as a body the Commission Board is a little bit lacking. No answers have 
been given to the citizens and Mr. McElroy said that is just not right. 

 
Franklin County's Zoning regulations were referenced by Mr. McElroy about the noise 

hazard which is found on page 11. Mr. McElroy told the Commissioners they need to review 
this too.  

 
Teresa Thomas said her concern is the power plant is creating power and it is for 

Georgia Power and none of the neighbors are benefiting from this as they all have Hart 



You Are Why We Are Here 
 

 

EMC. She stated she was told by the County Manager that Hart EMC had bought into this 
but she asked Gerry Hall, Hart EMC Board member and he said that they have not. Mrs. 
Thomas said Hart EMC is not linked to GRP in any shape, form or fashion. The power is 
going somewhere else but the community is having to deal with all the problems. 

 
Mark Gibson told the Commissioners hindsight is 20/20 and he is speaking for the 

citizens of Franklin County as a whole and they have been hoodwinked. He stated his 
understanding is the Planning Commission voted to not approve the plant coming to this 
area and the Commission Board went against this recommendation. The livelihood and 
peace and quiet of the people living near the power plant has been destroyed for a few extra 
dollars in water sales and property taxes. Mr. Gibson said at this time the County needs to 
look at code enforcement to regulate anything like this locating here again.  

 
There are changes that could be made to the power plant that would get the emissions in 

line with EPD and EPA requirements. Mr. Gibson said there is such a thing as a noise 
ordinance and if the Commissioners would put one in place the Sheriff could enforce it. That 
would be a step in the right direction to make the citizens feel like they are being heard. Mr. 
Gibson stated those directly affected by GRP feel like they have been thrown under the 
power plant bus, backed over and run over. He also agreed with Mr. McElroy that there is 
no feedback from the Commissioners about the citizens' concerns. 

  
Jeremy Schiffer read Section 1200 of the Franklin County Zoning regulations as 

related to commercial industrial. The purpose and intent of a commercial industrial district 
is established to reserve certain areas with one:  level topography and two: adequate water 
and sewage facilities and three: access to major arterial highways. Mr. Schiffer said he did 
not consider Hwy 198 to be a major arterial highway. He  referenced the Zoning regulations 
again and stated this district is not to be placed in close proximity to residential and other 
districts that may be damaged by objectionable circumstances such as the emission of noise, 
vibration, smoke, dust, gas, fumes, odors, radiation, large vehicles, heavy traffic, create fire 
or explosion hazards or have other objectionable conditions. Mr. Schiffer stated that it 
sounds like GRP violates every one of these zoning regulations. 

 
Gerry Wilson stated she thinks the Commissioners are interested but they don't know 

what to do. She suggested bringing in someone for advisement, possibly from UGA or the 
Carl Vison Institute of Government.  

 
Gay Elliott of Hunters Creek Trail said it is the hope of everybody that the power plant 

is not here to stay. She said she has contacted attorneys who will take a class-action lawsuit 
and she will provide the information to anyone interested. 

 
Tim Kirk said he is concerned with the smoke and what is being burned. The 

impossibility of getting fresh air for health reasons is his main concern.  
  
B. United Census Bureau 

No one attended from the United Census Bureau. 
 



You Are Why We Are Here 
 

 

C. Sheila Baker – GRP issues 
Ms. Baker said the creek is still filthy and the water is an icky brown color. She 

questioned who is responsible to clean the mess out of the creek and put the fish back in. 
Chairman Bridges said the County is working with the Game and Fish Commission. Ms. 
Baker asked the Commissioners if they are planning on doing anything about the power 
plant; can it be shut down or made to come into code. Chairman Bridges said the objective is 
to make the power plant live up to their standards of what they have to meet. Ms. Baker 
said when GRP came asking to build a power plant, they stated they would not burn 
anything but wood chips. Now they are burning creosote railroad ties and industrial waste 
that contains plastic and lead paint. With this practice Ms. Baker said it is no longer a 
biomass plant, it is a biohazard plant. Chairman Bridges told Ms. Baker he is expecting EPD 
to hold GRP accountable.  Commissioner Swails stated he appreciates everyone coming and 
sharing and he cares about their quality of life. Ms. Baker questioned the Commission Board 
if they have the authority to shut the plant down. Chairman Bridges said they are trying to 
figure out what can be done. Ms. Baker told the Commissioners if they could not shut the 
plant down then they need to begin compensating the people who live in the area of the 
power plant. She does not see the power plant shutting down but the County is making a lot 
of money from it. 
 
D. Public Works 

Mrs. Thomas said the water system improvements are being done with a loan from 
GEFA that includes a part to be forgiven. These improvements have also been done with a 
grant from ARC. Mrs. Thomas said five contracts for the water system improvements have 
been awarded. The next stage of the improvements is water mains. Each time a loan draw 
was done, 30% of grant funds were also given. Mrs. Thomas said there are two options to be 
considered – keep the total project at 3.5 million dollars or go to a total project of 4.2 million 
dollars. If the project is increased to the 4.2 million dollars the documents will need to be 
revised but no additional environmental studies would have to done. Mrs. Thomas said her 
recommendation is to utilize as much of the grant funds as possible to extend the County's 
water lines and increase the amount to the 4.2 million dollars. She asked for action to be 
taken on this at the November regular meeting. 
 

$617,000 was received from GDOT for the LMIG 2020. Mrs. Thomas said the funds 
from GDOT have to be matched with 30% from County funds which will come from 
SPLOST. The total project would be about $802,000. A list of three roads was presented to 
the Commission Board by Mrs. Thomas. Most of the project cost for these three roads is for 
the deep base patching. Mrs. Thomas asked the Commissioners to review this list and vote in 
November so the documentation can be timely given to GDOT. 
 

Commissioner Franklin questioned if Prospect Road had been looked at. Mrs. Thomas 
said it has been looked at but the funds are limited. Commissioner Franklin said it needed 
some serious patching where it crosses Hwy 198. Mrs. Thomas said it would be looked at 
again by County staff. 

 
Mrs. Thomas said State legislation has allowed counties to look at alternatives for 

transportation funding. In 2015 the State changed how fuel is taxed and the effects have 



You Are Why We Are Here 
 

 

been seen with the replacement of several bridges in the County. A one percent sales tax is 
now allowed to be collected by each county but it has to go before the voters. An agreement 
with the municipalities will have to be in place before this can take place. Mrs. Thomas will 
be meeting with the cities on November 11 to begin discussion. Chairman Bridges said he 
would like everyone passing through Franklin County on I-85 to pay taxes to help improve 
the roads. 
 
E. SPLOST Funding 

Mrs. Thomas said forward funding for SPLOST has been discussed with the cities and an 
agreement was not reached. Additional discussion is needed on this therefore Mrs. Thomas 
requested that no action be taken at this time. 
 
F. FCC Market Modification 

Mrs. Thomas said each of the four orphan counties in the State of Georgia have received 
the market modification letter from the FCC. Franklin County received approval on 
September 17, 2018, Hart County on October 12, 2018, Stephens County on April 4, 2019 and 
Elbert County on July 7, 2019.  The approvals for all four counties have been appealed by 
the opposing stations by filing an application for review with the FCC. This review process 
does not have a time limit. At this time a joint letter from the orphan counties is being 
considered to be sent to the FCC for them to uphold the market modification. Mrs. Thomas 
asked the Commissioners to place this on the agenda for the November regular meeting. 

 
G. Airport services 

Commissioner Macomson said the Airport Authority is an autonomous organization that 
receives funding from Franklin County and Hart County. Franklin County provides an in-
kind service by County staff for financial bookkeeping. Hart County gives an annual 
contribution of $3,500. Commissioner Macomson stated he would like for Franklin County 
to switch to the annual contribution instead of in-kind services and let the Airport Authority 
handle their own record keeping. He stated there is a potential problem with public 
perception that Franklin County has an influence on how the Airport Authority spends their 
money or makes the decisions for them. Another potential problem according to 
Commissioner Macomson is there is a potential conflict of interest between the County staff 
and the Board of Commissioners if there is a conflict between the Commissioners and the 
Airport Authority members.  He asked for this to be discussed at the November regular 
meeting. Commissioner Swails questioned if there are other services provided by Franklin 
County. Mrs. Thomas said the County insures one of their buildings. If this change is made 
the Airport Authority will be responsible to pay for this coverage. Commissioner Macomson 
stated if this change is made the Commissioners need to ask for a monthly financial 
statement from them. 
 
H. Declaration of surplus equipment/vehicles 

Mrs. Thomas said the Sheriff's Office has two vehicles that have been used for parts. 
These vehicles are missing major body parts, engine or transmission parts and they do not 
have any value to the County. This needs to be declared as surplus so they can be disposed of 
through salvage instead of going to auction. In order to dispose of these, it has to be 
recorded in the official minutes of the County. Mrs. Thomas asked for this to be voted on at 



You Are Why We Are Here 
 

 

the November regular meeting. 
 

I. Joint Comprehensive Plan 
Mrs. Thomas said GMRC helped Franklin County prepare the Comprehensive Plan and 

Service Delivery. For a local government to be listed as qualified these documents have to be 
in place per State of Georgia law. The update for the Joint Comprehensive Plan has to be 
submitted to DCA. Mrs. Thomas asked the Commissioners to give authorization for this at 
the November regular meeting. An extension is needed for the Service Delivery and this will 
need to be considered at the November regular meeting as well. 
 
J. Ethics attorney appointment 

Mrs. Thomas said the Chairperson Debra Grizzle of the Ethics Board has requested that 
County Attorney Bubba Samuels be appointed to serve as counsel for the duration for the 
process related to the claims. The request is in accordance with the Franklin County Ethics 
Ordinance and has to be approved by the Board of Commissioners. Mrs. Thomas asked the 
Board of Commissioners to approve this request. Chairman Bridges asked for a motion to 
accept this recommendation. Commissioner Swails made the motion to accept the 
recommendation to appoint County Attorney Bubba Samuels as legal counsel for the Ethics 
Board. Chairman Bridges asked for a second. Commissioner Macomson seconded the 
motion. There was no discussion. Chairman Bridges asked for a show of hands. 
Commissioner Macomson, Commissioner Swails, Commissioner Franklin, and 
Commissioner Wester voted YES. Chairman Bridges abstained from the vote.  
 
K. Announcements 

Mrs. Thomas apologized to Teresa Thomas for giving her incorrect information 
concerning GRP and Hart EMC. Mr. Hall called and gave Mrs. Thomas the same message 
that he gave Teresa Thomas. After receiving the message from Mr. Hall, Mrs. Thomas 
stated she knew she made a mistake but did not know who to apologize to. Someone at 
Georgia Power did tell Mrs. Thomas that the power is sold into the grid and once it is sold 
into the grid it can be purchased, much like stock market purchases are made. 

 
Mrs. Thomas stated flu shots are available at the Franklin County Health Department. 

County employees are being offered flu shots beginning this month. 
 

Mrs. Thomas announced the Employee luncheon will be held on December 13. 
 

An update on GRP was received by Mrs. Thomas saying that they are currently offline 
for replacement of a bearing. Once this is complete the boiler will start up. Performance 
testing is hoped to be begin in a few weeks. Sound surveys will also be done. Emergency 
plans have been discussed with first responders.  
 

Commissioner Franklin questioned how the culvert is coming along on Banks Road. Mrs. 
Thomas said the County is waiting for the rain to pass.  
 

Chairman Bridges congratulated the Lady Lions on their second-place finish in the 
Softball championship game. 



You Are Why We Are Here 
 

 

 
Chairman Bridges adjourned the meeting at 7:18 p.m. 

 
Signed on the _______________day of _____________________, 2019 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Chairman J. Thomas Bridges 
 
 
______________________________________  
Robert L. Franklin, District 1 Commissioner 
 
 
______________________________________  
Dr. Jason Macomson, District 2 Commissioner 
 
 
______________________________________  
Ryan Swails, District 3 Commissioner 
 
 
______________________________________   
Eddie Wester, District 4 Commissioner 
 
 
______________________________________   
Elaine H. Evans, County Clerk 


